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IRS Says No Tax-Free Exchange Treatment for
Swaps of Bitcoin, Ether, and Litecoin

The IRS has published guidance stating that pre-2018 swaps among Bitcoin, Ether, and Litecoin are not
eligible for 1031 tax-free exchange treatment. This means that investors who made swaps among these
three cryptocurrencies before 2018 are liable for income tax on the gains realized. This guidance only
applies to swaps before 2018, because the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 eliminated § 1031 tax-free
exchange treatment for personal property beginning after 2017, so that all cryptocurrency exchanges
beginning in 2018 would be subject to income tax.

The guidance (General Counsel Memorandum 202124008) reasons that pre-2018 exchanges between
Bitcoin and Litecoin or between Ether and Litecoin were not exchanges of like-kind property — and are
therefore taxable — because both Bitcoin and Ether had a special role in cryptocurrency trading since
investors wanting to trade in other cryptocurrencies had to exchange the other currencies into or from
either Bitcoin or Ether. This special role shared by Bitcoin and Ether made them different from Litecoin
(and likely most other cryptocurrencies), and therefore exchanges between Litecoin and either Bitcoin or
Ether were not like-kind exchanges under section 1031.

The memorandum further concludes that pre-2018 exchanges between Bitcoin and Ether were likewise
taxable because of their differences in overall design, intended use, and actual use. The memorandum
states that Bitcoin is designed to act as a payment network, with Bitcoin acting as the unit of payment. On
the other hand, according to the memo, the Ethereum blockchain was intended to act as a payment
network and to act as a platform for operating smart contracts and other applications, with Ether working
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as the “fuel” for these features. As a result, the memorandum concludes that Bitcoin and Ether are not
like-kind property, and not eligible for § 1031 tax-free exchange treatment.

The guidance states that it only applies to exchanges among Bitcoin, Ether, and Litecoin, but it is quite
possible that the IRS would extend this rationale to other cryptocurrencies that share characteristics with
these three cryptocurrencies. Furthermore, while the guidance only applies to pre-2018 cryptocurrency
swaps, it is a stark reminder to present-day investors that every exchange of cryptocurrencies is now a
taxable event, since 1031 tax-free exchange treatment has not been available for personal property since
Jan. 1, 2018.

Investors who were swapping these cryptocurrencies before 2018 and assuming these trades were tax-free
§ 1031 exchanges might be in for a rude awakening. It is not clear why it took the IRS so long to come out
with guidance on whether cryptocurrency swaps were or were not entitled to tax-free exchange treatment
— this guidance comes seven years after that cryptocurrency should be
treated as property, and not as a currency for income-tax purposes. Nevertheless, many investors are now
exposed to back taxes, interest, and penalties for not reporting their gains on pre-2018 swaps. The general
statute of limitations is three years from the date the tax return was filed, so that the statute of limitations
for the IRS to audit would have expired for the 2017 and prior tax years if a 2017 return was filed by April
15, 2018 (but 2017 might still be an open year if the return was filed on extension). However, there is a
special six-year statute of limitations in cases where the taxpayer failed to report more than 25% of their
income. Accordingly, the statute of limitations for investors who recognized substantial gains from
trading cryptocurrencies might be open for years going as far back as the 2015 tax year (or even 2014 if
they filed on extension). Businesses with potential exposure should consult with experienced tax counsel.
Furthermore, if the IRS alleges that the failure to report cryptocurrency transactions was fraudulent, the
statute of limitations to assess back taxes would run without any time limit.

Investors who exchanged cryptocurrencies prior to 2018 should consult their tax advisor to determine if
the six-year statute of limitations might still be open, and if so, consider filing amended returns to report

their gains. The IRS has obtained and trading information from
cryptocurrency exchanges, so the government may already or soon will know the extent of crypto swaps
made by investors.

Author

This GT Alert was prepared by:

| +1954.768.8224 |

Albany. Amsterdam. Atlanta. Austin. Boston. Chicago. Dallas. Delaware. Denver. Fort Lauderdale. Germany.~ Houston. Las
Vegas. London.” Los Angeles. Mexico City.* Miami. Milan.” Minneapolis. New Jersey. New York. Northern Virginia. Orange
County. Orlando. Philadelphia. Phoenix. Sacramento. Salt Lake City. San Francisco. Seoul.» Shanghai. Silicon Valley
Tallahassee. Tampa. Tel Aviv.” Tokyo.* Warsaw.~ Washington, D.C.. West Palm Beach. Westchester County

This Greenberg Traurig Alert is issued for informational purposes only and is not intended to be construed or used as general legal
advice nor as a solicitation of any type. Please contact the author(s) or your Greenberg Traurig contact if you have questions regarding
the currency of this information. The hiring of a lawyer is an important decision. Before you decide, ask for written information about
the lawyer's legal qualifications and experience. Greenberg Traurig is a service mark and trade name of Greenberg Traurig, LLP and
Greenberg Traurig, P.A. ~Greenberg Traurig’s Berlin office is operated by Greenberg Traurig Germany, an affiliate of Greenberg
Traurig, P.A. and Greenberg Traurig, LLP. *Operates as a separate UK registered legal entity. +Greenberg Traurig's Mexico City office
is operated by Greenberg Traurig, S.C., an affiliate of Greenberg Traurig, P.A. and Greenberg Traurig, LLP. »Greenberg Traurig’s
Milan office is operated by Greenberg Traurig Santa Maria, an affiliate of Greenberg Traurig, P.A. and Greenberg Traurig, LLP.
~Qperates as Greenberg Traurig LLP Foreign Legal Consultant Office. “"Greenberg Traurig's Tel Aviv office is a branch of Greenberg

© 2021 Greenberg Traurig, LLP


https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/n-14-21.pdf
https://www.gtlaw.com/en/insights/2021/4/irs-actively-seeking-information-regarding-cryptocurrency-via-john-doe-summonses
https://www.gtlaw.com/en/professionals/k/kirsner-marvin-a
mailto:kirsnerm@gtlaw.com

GreenbergTraurig

Traurig, P.A., Florida, USA. aGreenberg Traurig’s Tokyo Office is operated by GT Tokyo Horitsu Jimusho and Greenberg Traurig
Gaikokuhojimubengoshi Jimusho, affiliates of Greenberg Traurig, P.A. and Greenberg Traurig, LLP. ~Greenberg Traurig's Warsaw
office is operated by Greenberg Traurig Grzesiak sp.k., an affiliate of Greenberg Traurig, P.A. and Greenberg Traurig, LLP. Certain
partners in Greenberg Traurig Grzesiak sp.k. are also shareholders in Greenberg Traurig, P.A. Images in this advertisement do not

depict Greenberg Traurig attorneys, clients, staff or facilities. No aspect of this advertisement has been approved by the Supreme
Court of New Jersey. ©2021 Greenberg Traurig, LLP. All rights reserved.

© 2021 Greenberg Traurig, LLP www.gtlaw.com | 3



